I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

The Petitioners are Dr. Chad P. Collins, Dr. Patrick C. Collins, and 

Collins Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery (collectively, "the Doctors"). They 

were the defendants in the superior court, where they were awarded 

summary judgment dismissal of all of the medical negligence claims 

brought by Mrs. Keck and her family (collectively "Keck"), and they 

were also the respondents on appeal to Division III ofthe Washington 

State Court of Appeals. The Doctors respectfully seek review of the 

Court of Appeals' published opinion designated below in Section II of 

this Petition. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, the Doctors seek review ofthe published 

opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division III, filed on May 6, 2014, in this 

captioned case. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is provided in 

Appendix A 
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III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the de novo review 
standard applies to trial court rulings concerning the timeliness of 
evidence presented on summary judgment when that holding 
misconstrues the Washington State Supreme Court's holding in 
Folsom v. Burger King? 

2. Where a majority of appellate court decisions hold that the abuse 
of discretion review standard applies to a trial court's decision to 
reject an untimely affidavit on summary judgment, did the Court of 
Appeals err in ignoring those cases (without overruling them) and 
holding instead that the de novo review standard governs? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On November 26, 2007, the Doctors performed surgery on Ms. 

Keck to address her sleep apnea. CP 5, 131. Following surgery, Ms. 

Keck experienced complications. Dr. Chad Collins treated Ms. Keck's 

complications and she was seen by other doctors over the next several 

months. CP 132-136, 140-160. Dr. Chad Collins' last visit with Ms. Keck 

occurred on July 23, 2008; at that time she was pleased with her progress 

and doing well. CP 137; 160. 

Three years later, on November 23, 2010, Keck filed a lawsuit 

against the Doctors, alleging medical negligence, negligent referral and 

failure to obtain informed consent. CP 1, 3. 

The trial court issued a scheduling order setting a discovery cut-off 

of December 16, 2011, and a February 6, 2012, deadline for hearing 

dispositive motions. CP 395. 

By December 2010, within a month of filing her lawsuit, Kasey Li, 

M.D. had been asked to serve as Ms. Keck's medical expert and to review 

her medical records. CP 194, 195. The following year, Dr. Li was listed 

as a medical expert on Ms. Keck's witness list filed in August 2011. CP 

101. 

On December 20, 2011- more than a year after the lawsuit was 

filed, more than a year after Keck had obtained an expert, and after the 
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discovery cut-offhad expired- Dr. Patrick Collins filed a motion for 

summary judgment dismissal of Ms. Keck's claims for medical negligence 

on the grounds that Keck lacked competent medical expert testimony to 

make a prima facie case of medical negligence. CP 21-31. The hearing on 

that motion was originally set for January 20,2012. CP 162, CP 100. On 

February 16, 2012, at Keck's request after the case scheduling order was 

amended, CP 100, Dr. Patrick Collins agreed to re-note his motion for 

summary judgment and continue the hearing to March 30, 2012. CP 173, 

174. Keck never objected to the new date for the summary judgment 

hearing. 

On March 14, 2012, Dr. Chad Collins filed a joinder in the motion 

for summary judgment, adopting the arguments made by Dr. Patrick 

Collins. CP 101. No additional issues were raised or added by the 

joinder. !d. 

On March 16, 2012 (over three months after the motion for 

summary judgment had been filed), Keck timely responded to the 

Doctors' motion for summary judgment with a (first) declaration from Dr. 

Kasey Li dated March 14, 2012; the first declaration only talked about Dr. 

Chad Collins and it did not mention Dr. Patrick Collins. CP 41-43, 101. 

When Keck responded to the summary judgment motions, she did not 

assert any objection to the date of the hearing or allege that she was 
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prejudiced in her ability to respond. /d. Rather, she timely filed a 

response. 

On March 22, 2012, Keck unilaterally filed a second affidavit of 

Dr. Li dated March 19,2012. CP 46-48, 101. The second affidavit spoke 

to both Doctors, recognizing Dr. Chad Collins' joinder in Dr. Patrick 

Collins' motion for summary judgment. CP 46-48, cf CP 41-43. The 

Doctors' reply briefs outlined why the first declaration and second 

affidavit of Dr. Li were insufficient and did not supply competent medical 

evidence necessary to establish a prima facie case of medical negligence. 

CP 55-67. 

On March 29,2012, the day before the summary judgment 

hearing, Keck filed a third affidavit of Dr. Li; this untimely affidavit was 

filed without leave of the court and there was no motion for enlargement 

oftime (and there had been no CR 56(f) motion). CP 79-84. The third 

affidavit added only a recitation of the treatment history of Ms. Keck. /d. 

It did not contain any specific facts showing that the Doctors' actions fell 

below the requisite standard of care. /d. 

The Court heard oral argument on March 30,2012. CP 100. 

During oral argument, Ms. Keck's counsel conceded that she had not 

pleaded and was not asserting any claim that the initial surgeries by the 

doctors were negligent. RP 18, 25. During oral argument, Keck asked the 
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trial court to accept the untimely third affidavit of Dr. Li but argued that 

the second affidavit of Dr. Li was "sufficient to withstand any claim of 

summary judgment." RP 13. 

At the hearing, the trial court issued an oral ruling that was 

memorialized in a written order dated April 6, 2012. RP 26; CP 96-99. 

The trial court accepted Dr. Chad Collins' joinder in Dr. Patrick Collins' 

motion for summary judgment, finding that the joinder added no 

information and did no more than join the previously, timely filed motion 

ofDr. Patrick Collins. CP 104. The trial court dismissed the informed 

consent claim and the claim, if any, for medical negligence/negligent 

surgery on November 26, 2007. RP 26; CP9 6-99. The trial court denied 

the motion for summary judgment as to Ms. Keck's negligent referral 

claim. !d. And the trial court took under advisement three issues (1) the 

motion to strike Dr. Li's third declaration untimely filed on March 29, 

2012; (2) Ms. Keck's oral motion for continuance; and (3) the motion for 

summary judgment dismissal of Ms. Keck's claims for negligent post

operative treatment (aside from the negligent referral claim). !d. 

By letter dated April11, 2012, the trial court granted the motion to 

strike Dr. Li's third affidavit, denied the oral motion to continue the 

summary judgment, and granted summary judgment dismissal of Ms. 

Keck's claims for negligent post-operative care (except for negligent 
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referral). CP 100-104. The trial court concluded that Dr. Li's two 

affidavits were "conclusory" and "failed to raise genuine issues of material 

fact" because the information contained in the affidavits was "insufficient 

to connect Dr. Li's opinions to specific identified facts which would 

support the contention that the Doctors' actions fell below the requisite 

standard of care." CP 102. A written order memorializing the trial court's 

letter opinion was filed on April24, 2012. CP 108-110. 

On May 2, 2012, Keck filed a motion for reconsideration. CP 111-

125. The trial court denied the motion by letter ruling dated June 11, 2012, 

CP 247-248, which was memorialized in a written order filed June 22, 

2012. CP 308-310. 

On May 11,2012, Dr. Chad Collins moved for summary judgment 

dismissal of Ms. Keck's remaining claim for negligent referral on the basis 

that Keck could not establish a prima facie case of negligent referral. CP 

126-128. The motion was supported by the Affidavit ofDr. Chad Collins. 

CP 129-160. Dr. Patrick Collins also filed a separate motion for summary 

judgment dismissal ofMs. Keck's negligent referral claim. CP 197-217; 

239-246. In response, Keck submitted Dr. Li's fourth affidavit, an affidavit 

from Keck and the affidavit of Dr. Jeffrey Haller. CP 249-278. In reply, 

Dr. Chad Collins submitted a separate statement of undisputed facts. CP 

311-329. 
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The trial court heard oral argument on June 29, 2012. CP 350. 

Keck filed a sur-reply, which the trial court considered. CP 345-348. In a 

letter opinion dated July 25, 2012, the trial court granted summary 

judgment dismissal of Ms. Keck's remaining claim for negligent referral 

against the Doctors. CP 350-353. An order of dismissal was filed on 

August 27, 2012. CP 354-36. 

Keck appealed. 1 On May 6, 2014, Division Three ofthe Court of 

Appeals issued a published opinion, which is attached in the Appendix. 

The Doctors now petition this Court for discretionary review in 

accordance with RAP 13.4(b). 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Review Of The Court of Appeals' Published Decision Should 
Be Granted Pursuant To RAP 13.4(b)(l) And (4) Because Its 
Holding Misconstrues A Holding From The Washington 
Supreme Court And Because It Is In Conflict With Decisions 
Of Other Courts of Appeal. 

A petition for review may be accepted by this Court when a 

decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this 

Court, RAP 13.4(b)(1), or when a decision of the Court of Appeals is in 

conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

1 Keck's claims for lack of informed consent and "negligent surgery" were 
never at issue in the appeal; those claims were dismissed on November 26, 
2007, and the dismissal was not appealed. RP 26; CP9 6-99. 
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Here, review should be granted because the published decision of 

the Court of Appeals misconstrues this Court's opinion in Folsom v. 

Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 958 P.2d 301 (1998). Review should also 

be granted because the published decision of the Court of Appeals 

conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals- decisions from 

both Division One, Division Two, and even one decision from Division 

Three itself, which the Court of Appeals did not overrule in its published 

decision in this case. 

1. In its published decision, the Court of Appeals 
misconstrued the Washington State Supreme Court's 
holding from Folsom v. Burger King. 

In Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 958 P.2d 301 (1998), 

the trial court struck portions of an expert witness' affidavit relating to the 

standard of care, "concluding parts were legal conclusions, mixed 

statements oflaw and fact, invasion ofthe province of the jury, or 

opinions lacking proper foundation." !d. at 662-663. Because the trial 

court's rulings were based on grounds involving purely legal issues 

relating to the sufficiency of the evidence, the Folsom Court reviewed 

those evidence admissibility decisions de novo. !d. The Folsom Court 

broadly stated in dictum that the de novo review standard applies to "all 

trial court rulings made in conjunction with a summary judgment motion" 

and that in a de novo review an appellate court could must "examine all 
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the evidence presented to the trial court, including evidence that had been 

redacted." !d. at 663. Significantly, however, no question about the trial 

court's discretion to refuse to entertain untimely evidence was presented 

or considered in Folsom. 

In its published opinion below, the Court of Appeals in this case 

mistakenly concluded that the dictum "all trial court rulings" extended the 

Folsom holding to include any ruling concerning evidence that was 

untimely. That was incorrect, as Judge Korsmo correctly stated: 

The Folsom court, of course, was not reviewing all 
potential rulings made in conjunction with a summary 
judgment motion. It was dealing with a ruling striking 
evidence. There was no discretionary aspect to that 
ruling-the trial judge was either right on the law, or he 
was not. Either way, it presented a legal question rather 
than a discretionary ruling. Folsom did not speak to, and 
should not be read to address, additional types of rulings 
arising from a summary judgment motion? 

The Court of Appeals' rationale for concluding that the review 

standard depends on when the untimely evidence was filed (i.e., before or 

after the summary judgment hearing) and whether it was "on file" with the 

trial court is not supported by Folsom and it is inconsistent with prior 

holdings from Division Three.3 In its published opinion in this case, the 

2 Keckv. Collins, No. 31128-7-111, Published Opinion, May 6, 2014, 
Korsmo, J., concurring at 2, 5. 
3 See e.g., Davies v. Holy Family Hasp., 144 Wn. App. 483,490-491,494, 
499-500, 183 P.3d 283 (Div. 3, 2008) (holding that a trial court's ruling on 
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Court of Appeals relied, in part, on CR 5( e) to conclude that the late 

affidavit from Keck's expert should have been considered. CR 5(e) says 

only that the Clerk of the Court "may refuse to accept for filing any paper 

presented for that purpose because it is not presented in proper form as 

required by these rules or any local rules or practices." CR 5. This rule 

does not give the Clerk of the Court discretion to reject an untimely 

pleading. And this rule does not supersede CR 56(f) which requires a 

party to file a motion seeking approval to file a late pleading in connection 

with summary judgment. 

Folsom does not speak to the standard of review governing a trial 

court's consideration of untimely filings or continuances (which are 

discretionary decisions traditionally left to the sound discretion of a trial 

court's calendar management authority). Rather, Folsom only applies to a 

trial court's legal rulings on the admissibility of evidence (which are legal 

. ) 4 questions. 

whether to accept an untimely response or to strike it as untimely is 
reviewed for abuse of discretion); Colwell v. Holy Family Hasp., 104 Wn. 
App. 606,610,613-14, 15 P.3d 210 (Div. 3, 2001) (applying abuse of 
discretion standard to review trial court's ruling striking affidavits filed 10 
months after summary judgment). 

4 Brown-Edwards v. Powell, 144 Wn. App. 109, 111, 182 P.3d 441, 442 
(Div. 3, 2008) (citing Folsom and stating that "[t]he question presented 
here is one oflaw and so our review is de novo."). 
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2. The published opinion of the Court of Appeals is 
inconsistent with other appellate court decisions holding 
the opposite. 

The Court of Appeals' published decision in this case to apply a 

"de novo" standard (rather than the accepted "abuse of discretion") to the 

superior court's decision to strike untimely evidence in the context of a 

summary judgment motion directly conflicts with a number of other 

appellate court decisions, which the Court of Appeals disregarded. 

Specifically, it conflicts with opinions from Division One, Division Two, 

and Division Three itself, all decided after Folsom v. Burger King, 135 

Wn.2d 658,958 P.2d 301 (1998), and all reviewing summary judgment 

motions to strike untimely pleadings under the abuse of discretion 

standard. 

a. Division One applies an abuse o(discretion 
standard to the rejection o(untimely affidavits. 

In 2004, Division One twice held that the decision to "accept or 

reject untimely filed affidavits is within the trial court's discretion." See 

O'Neill v. Farmers Ins. Co. ofWash., 124 Wn. App. 516, 521, 125 P.3d 

134 (Div. 1, 2004) and Int'l Ultimate, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. 

Co., 122 Wn. App. 736, 744, 87 P.3d 774 (Div. 1, 2004). 
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b. Division Two applies an abuse o[discretion 
standard to the rejection o[untimely affidavits. 

In 2000, Division Two of the Court of Appeals reviewed for abuse 

of discretion a superior court's ruling on untimely evidence filed late, but 

before the summary judgment hearing. Sec. State Bank v. Burk, 100 Wn. 

App. 94, 102-03, 995 P.2d 1272 (Div. 2, 2000). Similarly, two years later, 

it affirmed a trial court's ruling rejecting an untimely response filed before 

the summary judgment hearing, reviewing for abuse of discretion. 

Idahosa v. King County, 113 Wn. App. 930, 935-37, 55 P.3d 657 (Div. 2, 

2002). 

c. Division Three previously applied an abuse of 
discretion standard to the rejection o[untimely 
affidavits. 

In 1999, Division Three ofthe Court of Appeals applied an abuse 

of discretion standard in affirming a trial court's ruling striking untimely 

evidence filed before a summary judgment hearing. McBride v. Walla 

Walla County, 95 Wn. App. 33, 36-37, 975 P.2d 1029 (Div. 3, 1999). 

Later, in 2001, Division Three again applied an abuse of discretion 

standard and affirmed a trial court's order rejecting untimely evidence 

filed after the summary judgment hearing. Colwell v. Holy Family Hasp., 

104 Wn. App. 606,610, 613-14, 15 P.3d 210 (Div. 3, 2001). Thus, in 

previous cases even after Folsom was decided in 1998, Division Three of 
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the Court of Appeals has applied the abuse of discretion standard to trial 

court timeliness rulings in summary judgment pleadings. See supra. 

Once again, in 2004, Division Three reviewed for abuse of 

discretion a ruling on untimely evidence filed before a summary judgment 

hearing because the "decision to admit or exclude evidence for 

consideration on summary judgment lies within the trial court's sound 

discretion." Garza v. McCain Foods, Inc., 124 Wn. App. 908, 917, 103 

P.3d 848, 853 (Div. 3, 2004) (citations omitted). Later still in 2008, 

Division Three again held that the question of whether to accept or reject 

untimely filed affidavits lies within the trial court's sound discretion. 

Davies v. Holy Family Hasp., 144 Wn. App. 483,490-491,494,499-500, 

183 P.3d 283 (Div. 3, 2008). The Davies court reviewed for abuse of 

discretion the trial court's decision to strike as untimely affidavits filed 

after the summary judgment hearing, in connection with a motion for 

reconsideration. !d. Finally, again in 2011, Division Three of the Court of 

Appeals applied the abuse of discretion standard and affirmed a trial 

court's ruling on untimely evidence filed before the summary judgment 

hearing. Colo. Structures, Inc. v. Blue Mountain Plaza, LLC, 159 Wn. 

App. 654, 660, 246 P.3d 835 (Div. 3, 2011). 

There was, then, a substantial body of case law from the Court of 

Appeals before and after Folsom, holding that review of trial court 
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decisions rejecting untimely affidavits on summary judgment is reviewed 

for abuse of discretion. Under the familiar rules of stare decisis, this well-

established line of cases should have controlled Division Three's decision 

in this case, but in its published opinion in this case, however, the Court of 

Appeals rejected all of these cases holding that the superior court's 

decision to reject untimely evidence is governed by the abuse of discretion 

standard. It did not overrule them (assuming it had that power, which is 

unclear). 

3. No appellate case supports the reading of Folsom 
applied in the Court of Appeals published opinion in 
this case. 

In its published opinion, Division Three wrongly stated that its 

decision is consistent with two appellate judicial opinions: Division One 

(Southwick v. Seattle Police Officer John Doe Nos. 1-5) and Division 

Three (Davies v. Holy Family Hospital). 5 Neither case supports the 

reading of Folsom adopted in the published opinion ofthe Court of 

Appeals in this case. 

The Davies Court cited Folsom and applied it in its review of 

evidentiary challenges to an expert's affidavit on summary judgment (i.e., 

the sufficiency of the expert's qualifications and whether the opinions 

5 Keckv. Collins, No. 31128-7-111, Published Opinion, May6, 2014, at 
10. 
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contained admissible testimony sufficient to defeat summary judgment). 

144 Wn. App. at 494, 494-496. Then the Davies Court turned to the 

separate issue presented by the plaintiffs argument that the lower court 

had erred in denying reconsideration because he was unrepresented, 

needed more time to file an affidavit from his expert, and deserved the 

opportunity to file an untimely response to the summary judgment. !d. at 

497-501. The Davies Court held that the trial court had not abused its 

discretion in those rulings. !d. at 500. In doing so, the Davies Court 

acknowledged that Folsom does not control the standard of review 

governing the review of a trial court's decision to strike an untimely 

affidavit. !d. at 497-501. 

In its published opinion in this case, the Court of Appeals also 

relied upon Southwickv. Seattle Police Officer John Doe Nos. 1-5, 145 

Wn. App. 292, 186 P.3d 1089 (Div. 1, 2008) as support for its erroneous 

application of Folsom. But Southwick does not fully support Division 

Three's holding in this case. At the outset of its opinion, the Southwick 

Court cited Folsom and stated generally that a motion to strike made in 

conjunction with a motion for summary judgment is reviewed de novo. !d. 

at 297. But in its actual analysis of the trial court's ruling striking an 

untimely declaration in opposition to summary judgment, the Southwick 

Court applied the abuse of discretion standard rather than the Folsom de 
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novo standard. !d. at 301-02 ("The trial court has discretion whether to

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