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

this case because plaintiffs counsel was entitled to more time to prepare 

his response to the summary judgment motions"). Under these 

circumstances, further consideration of the standard of review applicable 

to the timeliness of summary judgment affidavits by this Court would be 

merely academic. 

B.) If the Court grants review, it should also determine 
whether the Guile standard for affidavits submitted by 
experts in opposition to summary judgment in medical 
negligence cases should be disapproved. 

In Guile, the Court of Appeals held that an expert affidavit 

concluding that a defendant-health care provider employed faulty surgical 

technique and thereby violated the standard of care was insufficient in the 

absence of more elaborate factual detail. See 70 Wn. App. at 26. The 

superior court and Court of Appeals below relied on Guile in scrutinizing 

the affidavits of Dr. Li. See CP 102; Keck, 325 P.3d at 318. The Court of 

Appeals specifically declined Keck's request to overrule Guile as incorrect 

and harmful. See Keck, at 318. 

There are numerous problems with the Guile standard. It is based 

on flawed reasoning and a misreading of case law and CR 56( e)'s specific 
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facts requirement, and it demands greater specificity in a summary 

judgment affidavit than is necessary under ER 704 and 704 to be 

admissible or support a verdict at trial. See Keck App. Br., at 19-25; Keck 

Reply Br., at 12-26; Keck, 325 PJd at 318 (acknowledging Keck's 

arguments). 

Ultimately, the Guile standard has the potential to prevent 

meritorious claims from ever reaching the jury. See Keck App. Br., at 24; 

Keck Reply Br., at 13. Summary judgment procedure is constitutional 

only because it is limited to cases where there is a complete lack of 

evidence to support an element of the non-moving party's claim or 

defense, and hence no issue of fact to be resolved by the jury. See LaMon 

v. Butler, 112 Wn. 2d 193, 199 n.5, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989) (discussing 

Wash. Canst. Art. I,§ 21). Because Guile permits a case to be dismissed 

even though it is supported by admissible evidence that would justify a 

verdict, the decision runs afoul ofthis constitutional right. 

This is "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the 

State of Washington" and "an issue of substantial public interest that 

should be determined by the Supreme Court," warranting review under 

RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).6 

6 Although this Court has cited Guile on several occasions, none of the citations is 
precedential on this issue. See Keck Reply Br., at 14-17. 
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V.) CONCLUSION 

The Keck family respectfully asks the Court to deny the petition 

for review. However, if the Court grants the petition, then they ask the 

Court to review the issue raised by their conditional cross-petition. 

Submitted this 5th day of August, 2014. 

AHREND ALBRECHT PLLC 

~-~ 
George M. end, WSBA #25160 
Co-Attorneys for Respondents/Conditional 
Cross-Petitioners 

~~ 
~ark D. Kamitomo, WSBA #18803 

Co-Attorneys for Respondents/Conditional 
Cross-Petitioners 
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Keck v. Collins, 325 P.3d 306 (2014) 

325 P.3d306 
Court of Appeals of Washington, 

Division 3. 

Darla KECK and Ron Joseph Graham, 

husband and wife, and Darla Keck and Ron 

Joseph Graham as parents for the minor 

child, Kellen Mitchell Graham, and Kellen 

Mitchell Graham, individually, Appellants, 

v. 
Chad P. COLLINS, DMD, Patrick C, Collins, 

DDS; Collins Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery, P.S., a 

Washington corporation, and Sacred Heart Medical 

Center, a Washington corporation, Respondents. 

No. 31128-7-III. May 6, 2014. 

Synopsis 
Background: Patient filed suit for medical malpractice 
against oral surgeons who performed surgery to correct 
obstructive sleep apnea, based on claims of negligent referrals 

and post-operative care. The Superior Court, Spokane 
County, Gregory D. Sypolt, J., dismissed complaint on 

summary judgment, and patient appealed. 

Holdings: The Court of Appeals, Brown, J., held that: 

[I] trial court's ruling striking patient's medical expert's 
affidavit from consideration on summary judgment as 
untimely filed was subject to de novo review; 

[2] denial of motion to continue summary judgment was 
reviewed for abuse of discretion; 

[3] patient demonstrated good cause for filing medical 
expert's third affidavit ten days after deadline for summary 
judgment submissions and one day before hearing on motion; 

[4] justice warranted continuance of summary judgment on 
claims against oral surgeons for medical malpractice to allow 
full consideration of third affidavit; 

[5] fact issues precluded summary judgment on claims for 
negligent referral; and 

[6] fact issues precluded summary judgment on claim for 
negligent post-operative care. 

Reversed. 

Korsmo, J., filed concurring opinion. 

West Headnotes ( 17) 

(II 

(21 

(31 

Appeal and Error 
<-~" Cases Triable in Appellate Court 

30 Appeal and Error 
30XVI Review 
30XVI(F) Trial De Novo 
30k892 Trial De Novo 
30k893 Cases Triable in Appellate Court 
30k893(1) In general 
An appellate court reviews a summary judgment 

order de novo, engaging in the same inquiry as 
the trial court. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

Appeal and Error 

·r' Judgment 

30 Appeal and Error 
30XVI Review 
30XVI(G) Presumptions 
30k934 Judgment 
30k934( I) In general 
In reviewing on order on summary judgment, the 
appellate court, like the trial court, construes all 

evidence and reasonable inferences in the light 
most favorable to the nonmoving party. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

Appeal and Error 
,~, Cases Triable in Appellate Court 

30 Appeal and Error 
30XVJ Review 
30XVJ(F) Trial De Novo 
30k892 Trial De Novo 
30k893 Cases Triable in Appellate Court 
30k893( I) In general 
An appellate court cannot properly review 
a summary judgment order de novo without 
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15) 

16) 

independently examining all the evidence 
presented to the trial court on summary 

judgment. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

Appeal and Error 
r Extent of Review Dependent on Nature of 

Decision Appealed from 

30 Appeal and Error 
30XVI Review 
30XVI(A) Scope, Standards, and Extent, in 
General 
30k862 Extent of Review Dependent on Nature of 
Decision Appealed from 
30k863 In general 
An appellate court cannot fully engage in 
the same inquiry as the trial court on 

summary judgment, or construe all evidence and 
reasonable inferences in the light most favorable 
to the nonmoving party, unless the appellate 

court evaluates anew all evidence available to 
the trial court for potential consideration on 
summary judgment. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

Appeal and Error 

·--· Cases Triable in Appellate Court 

30 Appeal and Error 
30XVI Review 
30XVI(F) Trial De Novo 
30k892 Trial De Novo 
30k893 Cases Triable in Appellate Court 
30k893(1) In general 
Regarding availability of all evidence to the trial 
court for consideration on summary judgment, 
for the purposes of appellate review of the 
summary judgment ruling, the determining 
factor is whether the evidence was on file with 
the trial court, and called to the attention of the 
trial court on summary judgment, and if it was, 
the appellate court reviews de novo the trial court 
ruling striking the evidence from consideration 
on summary judgment. CR 56(c); RAP 9.12. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

Appeal and Error 

171 

18) 

.,..., Cases Triable in Appellate Court 

30 Appeal and Error 
30XVI Review 
30XVI(F) Trial De Novo 
30k892 Trial De Novo 
30k893 Cases Triable in Appellate Court 
30k893( I) In general 
Proffered medical expert's third affidavit on 
applicable standard of care was on file with 
trial court on oral surgeons' motion for summary 
judgment, in medical malpractice action, and 

thus, trial court's ruling striking evidence from 
consideration on summary judgment as untimely 
filed was subject to de novo review, where, 

even though affidavit was untimely filed, clerk 
accepted filing. CR 5(e), 56( c); RAP 9.12. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

Appeal and Error 
;.,..., Allowance of remedy and matters of 

procedure in general 

30 Appeal and Error 
30XVI Review 
30XVI(H) Discretion of Lower Court 
30k949 Allowance of remedy and matters of 
procedure in general 
Denial of motion to continue summary judgment 
was subject to appellate review for abuse of 

discretion. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

Judgment 
v= Affidavits, Form, Requisites and Exec uti on 

of 

228 Judgment 
228V On Motion or Summary Proceeding 
228k 182 Motion or Other Application 
228k 185.1 Affidavits, Form, Requisites and 
Execution of 
228k 185.1 (I) In general 
Until a formal order granting or denying the 
motion for summary judgment is entered, a 
party may file affidavits to assist the court in 
determining the existence of an issue of material 
fact. CR 56(e). 

Cases that cite this headnote 
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(91 Judgment 

¥- Affidavits, Form, Requisites and Exec uti on 

of 

Judgment 

,.~ Torts 

228 Judgment 
228V On Motion or Summary Proceeding 
228k 182 Motion or Other Application 
228k 185.1 Affidavits, Form, Requisites and 
Execution of 
228k 185 .I (I) In general 
228 Judgment 
228V On Motion or Summary Proceeding 
228k 182 Motion or Other Application 
228k 185.3 Evidence and Affidavits in Particular 
Cases 
228kl85.3(21) Torts 

Patient demonstrated good cause for filing 
medical expert's third affidavit ten days after 

deadline for summary judgment submissions and 
one day before hearing on motion, in medical 

malpractice action against oral surgeons; oral 
surgeon filed motion and arbitrarily selected 
hearing date without considering availability 
of patient's counsel, patient's counsel was in 
another unrelated medical malpractice trial, 
surgeon's counsel was also involved in other 
trial and therefore knew that patient's counsel 

was involved in trial at time filing was due, 
third affidavit stated no new opinions, delay in 

filing third affidavit reflected no professional 
incompetence or complete Jack of diligence by 

patient's counsel, demands of other trial were 
outside reasonable control of patient's counsel, 
and third affidavit was sufficiently specific as 
to demonstrate issues of fact as to surgeons' 
negligence. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

1101 Judgment 

•·"· Nature of summary judgment 

228 Judgment 
228V On Motion or Summary Proceeding 
228kl78 Nature of summary judgment 
Summary judgment procedure is a liberal 
measure, liberally designed for arriving at the 
truth; its purpose is not to cut litigants off 
from their right of trial by jury if they really 

have evidence which they will offer on a trial, 
it is to carefully test this out, in advance of 
trial by inquiring and determining whether such 

evidence exists. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

[II) Judgment 

>· Hearing and determination 

228 Judgment 
228V On Motion or Summary Proceeding 
228ki82 Motion or Other Application 
228k 186 Hearing and determination 
The trial court may deny motion for continuance 
of summary judgment in order to permit 
additional discovery and to obtain evidence to 
oppose summary judgment solely if (I) the 

requesting party does not offer a good reason for 
the delay in obtaining the desired evidence; (2) 

the requesting party does not state what evidence 
would be established through the additional 

discovery; or (3) the desired evidence will not 
raise a genuine issue of material fact. CR 56(f). 

Cases that cite this headnote 

1121 Judgment 

. .,...., Hearing and determination 

228 Judgment 
228V On Motion or Summary Proceeding 
228ki82 Motion or Other Application 
228k I 86 Hearing and determination 
The trial court must make justice its primary 

consideration in ruling on a motion for 
continuance of summary judgment in order to 
permit the requesting party to obtain evidence 
necessary to oppose summary judgment, even an 
informal one. CR 56( f). 

Cases that cite this headnote 

1131 Judgment 

v'· Hearing and determination 

228 Judgment 
228V On Motion or Summary Proceeding 
228ki 82 Motion or Other Application 
228k 186 Hearing and determination 
Absent prejudice to the moving party on 
summary judgment, the trial court should grant 
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a motion for continuance of summary judgment 
in order to allow the party seeking a continuance 

to obtain evidence necessary to oppose summary 
judgment. CR 56(f). 

Cases that cite this headnote 

)14) Judgment 

'-''" Hearing and determination 

228 Judgment 
228V On Motion or Summary Proceeding 
228k 182 Motion or Other Application 
228k 186 Hearing and determination 
Justice warranted continuance of summary 

judgment on claims against oral surgeons for 
medical malpractice to allow full consideration 
of third affidavit submitted by patient's medical 

expert to cure deficiencies of first and 
second affidavits, which was filed on day 
before summary judgment hearing; patient was 
hobbled by counsel who, due to extenuating 
circumstances beyond his control, lacked time 

and attention needed to ensure that expert's 
first and second affidavits provided enough 

specificity to show genuine issues of material 
fact, surgeons would not have suffered any 

prejudice from continuance, since trial date was 
still three and one-half months out and deadline 
for dispositive motions was three months out, 
and continuance would have allowed trial court 

to consider third affidavit, which stated no 
new opinions, and would have given surgeons 
opportunity to respond. CR 56(f). 

Cases that cite this headnote 

)15) Health 

w- Standard of practice and departure 

therefrom 

198H Health 
198HV Malpractice, Negligence, or Breach of 
Duty 
198HV(G) Actions and Proceedings 
198Hk815 Evidence 
198Hk821 Necessity of Expert Testimony 
198Hk821(2) Standard ofpractice and departure 
therefrom 

In an action for injury resulting from health care, 

the plaintiff must usually present medical expert 
testimony to prove the defendant was negligent. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

)16) Judgment 

'r" Tort cases in general 

228 Judgment 
228V On Motion or Summary Proceeding 
228k 181 Grounds for Summary Judgment 
228k 181 (15) Particular Cases 
228k181(33) Tort cases in general 
Genuine issues of material fact remained 

whether oral surgeons should have referred 
patient to ear, nose, and throat specialist, plastic 
surgeon, or other oral surgeon, whether such 

referrals were made, and whether referrals 
to dentist were adequate to address patient's 
continuing problems, thus precluding summary 
judgment on claims against oral surgeons 
for negligent referral, in context of medical 

malpractice action. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

)17) Judgment 

""~ Tort cases in general 

228 Judgment 
228V On Motion or Summary Proceeding 
228k 181 Grounds for Summary Judgment 
228k 181 ( 15) Particular Cases 
228k 181 (33) Tort cases in general 
Genuine issue of material fact remained whether 
oral surgeons breached standard of post
operative care for patient who had green pus 

oozing from incision, who developed infections, 
and whose bite was not aligning properly, 
following surgery to address obstructive sleep 
apnea, thus precluding summary judgment on 
patient's claim against surgeons for medical 
malpractice due to allegedly negligent post
operative care. 

Cases that cite this headnote 
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Opinion 

BROWN, J. 

~ I Darla Keck and Ron Joseph Graham (collectively 

appellants) appeal the trial court's summary dismissal of 

their medical negligence suit against Chad P. Collins, DMD, 

Patrick C. Collins, DDS, and Collins Oral & Maxillofacial 

Surgery PS (collectively respondents). 1 Appellants contend 

the trial court erred in: 

To avoid confusion, we refer to Chad P. Collins, DMD as 

"Dr. Chad" and Patrick C. Collins, DDS as "Dr. Patrick." 

(I) concluding their first and second medical expert 

affidavits lack required specificity on negligent 

postoperative care, 

(2) striking their third medical expert affidavit as 

untimely, 

(3) denying a continuance of the summary judgment 

hearing on negligent postoperative care, 

(4) concluding no genuine issue of material fact exists 

on negligent referral, and 

(5) denying reconsideration of the summary judgment 

order on negligent postoperative care. 

~ 2 After concluding our standard of review is de novo, we 

hold the trial court erred in striking the third affidavit. We 

then hold the trial court erred in denying the continuance. 

granting summary dismissal, and denying reconsideration. 

Accordingly, we reverse and remand for further proceedings. 

FACTS 

~ 3 On November 26,2007, Drs. Chad and Patrick performed 

surgery in Spokane on Ms. Keck, a Missoula resident, to 

correct her obstructive sleep apnea. The surgery involves 

cutting the patient's jawbones, advancing them to open 

breathing space, and stabilizing them with plates and screws 

while new bone bonds them together by filling the gaps left 

between them. During the healing process, arch bars help 

align the patient's bite. 

~ 4 Ms. Keck had her first follow-up visit in Spokane 

on December 6, 2007. She had green pus oozing from 

her surgical incision as well as pain and total numbness 

in her chin. Dr. Patrick said the pus was nothing more 

than a superficial infection. Thus, Dr. Chad prescribed her 

clindamycin, an antibiotic. Dr. Chad then consulted Dr. 

Patrick regarding an x-ray of her chin. While Dr. Chad said 

he thought a particular shadow in the x-ray might evidence a

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